
GRAND JUNCTION 

REGIONAL AIRPORT 

021 

COLORADO 

AIRPORT of the YEAR 

BOARD PACKET 

December 7, 2021 



December 7, 2021 

Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority  

Date:  December 7, 2021 

Location:    
GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 
2828 WALKER FIELD DRIVE 
GRAND JUNCTION, CO 81506 
AIRPORT TERMINAL - 3rd FLOOR CONFERENCE ROOM 
or  
Electronic Meeting 
Link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89835604267 

 
Time:  5:15 PM  

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA   

 Call to Order  

 Pledge of Allegiance 

 Approval of Agenda 

 Commissioner Comments 

 Citizens Comments 
The Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority welcomes respectful public comments at its 
meetings. The Citizens Comment section is open to all individuals that would like to comment. If 
you wish to speak under the Citizens Comment portion of the agenda, please e-mail your 
comment to the Board Clerk (boardclerk@gjairport.com) 15 minutes prior to the meeting. 
Comments not related to specific agenda items will be addressed during the citizen comment 
section of the agenda. Citizen comments related to a specific action item will be addressed during 
the discussion of that action item. The Board Chair will indicate when you may come forward and 
comment. Please state your name for the record. Presentations are limited to three minutes and 
yielding time to others is not permitted. Speakers are to address the Chair, not each other or the 
audience, and are expected to conduct themselves in an appropriate manner. The use of abusive 
or profane language shall not be allowed. No debate or argument between speakers and/or 
members of the audience shall be permitted.  

 Consent Agenda 
A.  November 16, 2021 Meeting Minutes ____________________________________ 1 

- Approve the November 16, 2021 Board Meeting Minutes. 

B. Air Service Incentive Program Revisions ___________________________________ 2 

- Adopt the proposed revisions to the Air Service Incentive program to modify the 
target markets and amend the definition of a new entrant airline.  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89835604267


December 7, 2021 

C. Crawford, Murphy, & Tilly, Inc. (CMT) Professional Services Agreement - Leakage Study 
and Market Analysis ___________________________________________________ 3 

- Approve the CMT/GJRAA Professional Services Agreement to perform a leakage 
study and market analysis funded by the Grand Junction Regional Air Service 
Alliance with a not-to-exceed amount of $60,000 and authorize the Executive 
Director to sign the agreement.  

D. Transportation Security Administration (TSA) Office Lease Space Amendment _____ 4 

- Authorize the Executive Director to negotiate an amendment to the expired TSA 
office lease consistent with the terms of the expired lease and/or the terms of the 
new proposed lease approved in October 2021, and authorize the Executive 
Director to sign the extension amendment.  

 Action 
A. Resolution No. 2021-008 to Approve Rates and Charges ______________________ 5 

- Adopt Resolution No. 2021-008: Rates and Charges effective January 1, 2022. 

B. Resolution No. 2021-009 to Approve Delegation of Authority __________________ 6 

- Adopt Resolution No. 2021-009: Resolution of the Board of Commissioners 
Regarding Delegation of Authority. 

C. 2022 Airport Improvement Program Grant Applications ______________________ 7 

- Approve the three 2022 Airport Improvement Program grant applications for the 
Runway 12/30 replacement program and authorize the Executive Director to 
sign and submit the applications to the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA).  
 

 Discussion 
A. Airport Development Plan Update - InterVISTAS 
B. 2022 Board Meeting Calendar  __________________________________________ 8 

 

 Staff Reports 
A. Executive Director Report (Angela Padalecki) 
B. Finance and Activity Report (Sarah Menge)  _______________________________ 9 
C. Operations Report (Dylan Heberlein) 
D. Capital Improvement Program Update (Colin Bible)  

 Any other business which may come before the Board 

 Adjournment 



November 16, 2021 Minutes – Page 1 
 
 

Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board 
Regular Board Meeting 

 Meeting Minutes 
November 16, 2021 

 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING    
I. Call to Order  
Mr. Tom Benton, Board Chairman, called the Meeting of the Grand Junction Regional Airport 
Authority Board to order at 5:15 PM on November 16, 2021 in Grand Junction, Colorado and in 
the County of Mesa. The meeting was hosted in the 3rd floor conference room as well as 
electronically. 
 

 
II. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
III. Approval of Agenda  
Commissioner Brabaek made a motion to approve the November 16, 2021 Board Agenda. 
Commissioner Velarde seconded the motion. Roll Call Vote: Commissioner Benton, yes; 
Commissioner Marshall, yes; Commissioner Brabaek, yes; Commissioner Tufly, yes, and 
Commissioner Velarde, yes. The motion carries. 
 
 

Commissioners Present: 
   Tom Benton (Chairman) 
   Clay Tufly (Vice Chairman) 
   Erling Brabaek    
   Linde Marshall 
   Ron Velarde 
 
Airport Staff: 
   Angela Padalecki (Executive Director) 
   Dan Reimer (Counsel) 
   Sarah Menge  
   Cameron Reece (Clerk) 
   Shelagh Flesch 
   Ben Peck 
    
       

Guests: 
Colin Bible, Garver 
Brad Rolf, Mead and Hunt 
Perry Havenar, AECOM 
Jen Boehm, Mead and Hunt 
Jeremy Lee, Mead and Hunt 
Judd Hill, Armstrong 
Austin Rankin, Mead and Hunt 



November 16, 2021 Minutes – Page 2 
 
 

 
IV. Commissioner Comments 
Commissioner Benton commented and recognized staff for attending a AAAE CM course and for 
additional education and appreciates those who took the course and challenged themselves to 
learn while on the job. Commissioner Benton thanked Executive Director for setting up the 
training and congratulated those who participated and took the exam, noting that staff did really 
well. 
Commissioner Benton commented that Commissioner Velarde and himself attended an event last 
week and Ron Tipping one of the founding business people of this community who was an avid 
flyer. Ron Tipping donated a Super Cub to the WCCC aviation program, and Glen McClelland 
donated his hanger for the same purpose. Commissioner Benton wanted to go on public record 
saying thank you for their generosity. 
 
V. Citizen Comments 
No Citizen Comments were made 
 
VI. Consent Agenda 
 

A. October 19, 2021 Meeting Minutes 
Approval of October 19, 2021 Board Meeting Minutes 

 
B. AIP Grant Agreement – Airport Rescue Grant 

Accept FAA AIP Grant No. 3-08-0027-073-2022 Airport Rescue Grant in the amount of 
$3,312,328 for airport relief under the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA). 
 

C. Sage Intacct Accounting Software Subscription Renewal 
Authorize the renewal of the Sage Intacct accounting software subscription in the amount 
of $14,580 for the contract period of December 21, 2021 through December 20, 2022. 

 
D. GJRAA Mission, Vision, and Values 

Approve the GJRAA Mission, Vision, and Values and replace all future versions. 
 

E. Lease Assignment - V&S Holdings, LLC and Klinglesmith Enterprises, LLC 
Approve lease assignment between V&S Holdings, LLC and Klinglesmith Enterprises, LLC 
and authorize the Executive Director to execute the assignment. 
 

F. Purchase Authorization – Interactive Employee Training (IET) Software Upgrade 
Authorize the Executive Director to accept Package Option #1 in the amount of $25,000 
from AAAE to upgrade the existing IET Training courses.  

 
Commissioner Velarde made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda. Commissioner Brabaek 
seconded the motion. Roll Call Vote: Commissioner Benton, yes; Commissioner Marshall, yes; 



November 16, 2021 Minutes – Page 3 
 
 

Commissioner Brabaek, yes; Commissioner Tufly, yes, and Commissioner Velarde, yes. The motion 
carries. 
VII. Action Items 

 
A. Resolution No. 2021-007 to Adopt 2022 Budget and Appropriate Funds for 2022 

Commissioner Tufly made a motion to Adopt Resolution No. 2021-007 to adopt the 2022 Budget 
and appropriate funds for 2021. Commissioner Velarde seconded the motion. Roll Call Vote: 
Commissioner Benton, yes; Commissioner Marshall, yes; Commissioner Brabaek, yes; 
Commissioner Tufly, yes, and Commissioner Velarde, yes. The motion carries. 
 

B. Garver Work Order No. 05 for FY 21 Grading and Drainage Support 
 Commissioner Brabaek made a motion to Approve Garver Task Order 05 for $386,600 to support 
the FY 2021 drainage and grading construction project and the ongoing runway replacement 
program and authorize the Executive Director to sign the Task Order. Commissioner Velarde 
seconded the motion. Roll Call Vote: Commissioner Benton, yes; Commissioner Marshall, yes; 
Commissioner Brabaek, yes; Commissioner Tufly, yes, and Commissioner Velarde, yes. The 
motion carries. 
 

C. Mead and Hunt Task Order No. 7 for FY 21 Grading and Drainage Support  
Commissioner Tufly made a motion to Approve Mead & Hunt Task Order #7 for $2,332,769 for 
Construction Administration and support services associated with the FY 2021 Grading and 
Drainage construction project and authorize the Executive Director to sign the Task order.  
Commissioner Marshall seconded the motion. Roll Call Vote: Commissioner Benton, yes; 
Commissioner Marshall, yes; Commissioner Brabaek, yes; Commissioner Tufly, yes, and 
Commissioner Velarde, yes. The motion carries. 
 

D. Kelly Trucking, Inc. Notice of Award and Construction Contract Approval – FY 21 
Grading and Drainage Package 

 Commissioner Velarde made a motion to Approve the Notice of Award to Kelly Trucking, Inc.; the 
contract agreement for $13,153,552.29 for the FY 2021 Grading and Drainage Package, 
Schedules 1, 2, and 3; and authorize the Executive Director to sign the notice of award, contract 
documents, and any applicable notices to proceed. Commissioner Brabaek seconded the motion. 
Roll Call Vote: Commissioner Benton, yes; Commissioner Marshall, yes; Commissioner Brabaek, 
yes; Commissioner Tufly, yes, and Commissioner Velarde, yes. The motion carries. 
 
VIII. Discussion 

A. Capital Improvement Program Update (Colin Bible)  
B. Annual Policy Revisions 

- Redline Rates and Charges Resolution 
- Redline Delegation of Authority 
- Redline Air Service Incentive Program 

C. 2022 Officer and Committee Appointments 
D. Terminal Restaurant Expansion Concept Discussion 



November 16, 2021 Minutes – Page 4 
 
 

 
 
IX. Staff Reports 

A. Legal Update (Dan Reimer) 
B. Executive Director Report (Angela Padalecki) 
C. Finance and Activity Report (Sarah Menge)  
D. Facilities Report (Ben Peck) 

 
X. Any other business which may come before the Board 

 
XI. Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 7:20pm 
 

Audio recording of the complete meeting can be found at 
https://gjairport.com/Board_Meetings 

 
  
 
Tom Benton, Board Chairman 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
Cameron Reece, Clerk to the Board 

https://gjairport.com/Board_Meetings


Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Air Service Incentive Program Revisions 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECCOMENDATION: Adopt the proposed revisions to the Air Service Incentive program to 
modify the target markets and amend the definition of a new entrant 
airline.  

SUMMARY: The two proposed revisions are to: 

1. Update the target markets to add AUS (Austin, TX); and  
2. amend the definition of what qualifies as a new entrant to be a 

rolling 18-month period rather than a fixed point in time.  

The Austin target market was identified based on passenger demand 
between the markets and airline growth opportunities.  
 
The Air Service Incentive Program was adopted to incentivize airlines to 
provide or expand service. Airport incentives help reduce airline barriers 
to entry in new markets including name and/or service awareness, 
reduced financial risk for uncertain routes or destinations, and 
demonstrates community support in new air service.  
 
This program is intended to be dynamic and updated at least annually.  

REVIEWED BY:  Executive Director, Legal Counsel, and CMT Air Service Consultant 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

To Be Determined – depending on eligible airline service 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

Air Service Incentive Program red line 

STAFF CONTACT:                 Angela Padalecki 
apadalecki@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8588 
 

 

mailto:apadalecki@gjairport.com


 
 
 

Grand Junction Regional Airport Air Service Incentive Program 
 

Background 
The Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority has developed the following air service incentive program 
to increase access and affordability of commercial air service at GJT in accordance with applicable 
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) rules and guidance. 
 
Goal of the Program 
The goal of the Grand Junction Regional Airport Air Service Incentive Program is to increase access to 
affordable air service at GJT through new passenger service to unserved destinations with an emphasis 
on in-demand, target markets.   
 
Definition of Key Terms 

1. Unserved Destination – Airport destination without nonstop service in the past six months 
2. New Service – Nonstop service connecting GJT with an unserved destination 
3. Additional Service – Nonstop service from an air carrier to a destination not currently served by 

that air carrier from GJT 
4. Seasonal Service – Airport destination with scheduled nonstop service for between 12 

consecutive weeks and 50 consecutive weeks in a 12-month period 
 
Targeted Airport Destinations 
Through rigorous analysis and conversations with community stakeholders, GJT has identified the 
following target markets and airport destinations for new air service: 
 

Table 1: GJT Target Airport Destinations 
Target Market Target Airport Destinations 
New York Area LGA, JFK, EWR, and SWF 
Washington D.C. DCA, BWI, and IAD 
Chicago ORD and MDW 
Los Angeles LAX, ONT, LGB, BUR, and SNA 
San Francisco SFO, OAK, and SJC 
Seattle SEA and PAE 
Houston IAH and HOU 
Atlanta ATL 
Minneapolis-St. Paul MSP 
Charlotte CLT 
Detroit DTW 
Dallas DAL 
Portland PDX 
Philadelphia PHL 
San Diego SAN 
Austin AUS 

 
Incentive Categories 
New Service to a Targeted Unserved Destination 



 
 
 
Eligibility: Any passenger air carrier establishing new service to a Targeted Destination as outlined in 
Table 1.  The Targeted Destination must be an Unserved Destination from GJT at the time service is 
initiated. 
 

1. Year-round, daily service to a Targeted, Unserved Destination:  An air carrier is eligible for a 
100% landing fee waiver for 24 months, 100% waiver of common use space rent for the first 12 
months and a 50% waiver in Year 2; $50,000 in marketing support for new service to be used 
during the first 24 months of service. 

2. Year-round, less than daily service to a Targeted, Unserved Destination:  An air carrier is 
eligible for a 100% landing fee waiver for 24 months, 100% waiver of common use space rent for 
the first 12 months and a 50% waiver in Year 2; $25,000 in marketing support for new service to 
be used during the first 24 months of service. 

3. Seasonal service to a Targeted, Unserved Destination:  An air carrier is eligible for a 100% 
landing fee waiver for 24 months, 100% waiver of common use space rent for the first 12 
months and a 50% waiver in Year 2; $25,000 in marketing support for new service scheduled to 
operate at least twice a week to be used during the first 24 months of service. 
 

New Service to an Unserved, Non-Target Destination 
Eligibility: Any passenger air carrier establishing service to a new destination not included in Table 1. 

1. New service to an Unserved, non-targeted Destination: An air carrier is eligible for a 100% 
landing fee waiver for 12 months. 

 
Expanded Service to an Existing Destination  
Eligibility: Any passenger air carrier establishing service to a destination currently served or suspended 
within the past 6 months. 

1. Additional Service to an existing destination:  A air carrier is eligible for a 100% landing fee 
waiver for 12 months. 

 
New Entrant Incentive 
Eligibility: Any passenger air carrier that did not serve GJT during 2020the last 18 months.  The new 
entrant incentive is able to be combined with any of the new service categories listed above. 
 

1. New entrant carrier:  A new entrant air carrier is eligible for a 100% waiver of preferential use 
space rent for the first 12 months and a 50% waiver in Year 2.   

 
 



 
 
 
Terms and Conditions  

1. This incentive program is effective immediately and may be amended by the Grand Junction 
Airport Authority at any time. 

2. This incentive program will be administered in compliance with federal law, the Airport 
Improvement Program Grant Assurances, and FAA policy, including the Policy and Procedures 
Concerning the Use of Airport Revenue (1999) and the Air Carrier Incentive Program Guidebook 
(2010). 

3. Participation in this program requires an incentive agreement between the Grand Junction 
Airport Authority and an air carrier. The Airport Authority reserves the right, based on budget 
availability, to limit an incentive on a specific route to the first air carrier to sign an incentive 
agreement. 

4. To qualify for incentives, a seasonal route must be operated for a minimum of 12 consecutive 
weeks. 

5. An air carrier may only qualify for an incentive for a particular route one time. Seasonal service 
may not receive an incentive each time it returns for a new season. 

6. To qualify for incentives, a carrier must be current on payment of rates and charges.   
7. Air carriers must operate service throughout duration of the promotional period at the level 

specified. 
8. Air carriers must use the passenger terminal in order to qualify for incentives. 
9. Air carriers may choose to forgo some or all fee waivers and rent abatements for an increased 

marketing incentive of equal value based upon service schedule and aircraft gauge committed at 
the time of entering into an incentive agreement with GJT.  If the airline changes its frequency 
or gauge over the incentive period, the amount of the marketing incentive will be increased or 
reduced accordingly.   

10. Incentives may not be transferred from one carrier to another.  Incentives cannot be transferred 
between routes. 

11. Additional incentives including marketing support and minimum revenue guarantees (MRG) may 
be available through Grand Junction Regional Air Service Alliance. 

 



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 
Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Crawford, Murphy, & Tilly, Inc. (CMT) Professional Services Agreement - Leakage 
Study and Market Analysis 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve the CMT/GJRAA Professional Services Agreement to perform a leakage 
study and market analysis funded by the Grand Junction Regional Air Service 
Alliance with a not-to-exceed amount of $60,000 and authorize the Executive 
Director to sign the agreement. 

SUMMARY: On Friday, December 3, 2021, the Grand Junction Regional Air Service Alliance 
(the Alliance) approved funding for the proposed CMT professional services 
agreement to purchase data and perform a leakage study and market analysis for 
the Grand Junction Regional Airport. The last leakage study was completed in 
February 2020 for data through Q3 2019.  

The updated study will be used by GJRAA and the Alliance to inform overall air 
service development and marketing strategy. Specifically, the study will be used 
to inform current and prospective airlines about opportunities at GJT, identify 
target markets in developing incentive programs, inform decisions made by the 
Alliance, and better understand passenger behaviors.  

The proposed study will incorporate an expanded market area to better 
understand the Airport’s role in Colorado, particularly the surrounding ski 
resorts, and will analyze both in-bound and out-bound traffic.  

This agreement is in addition to the existing professional service agreement 
between CMT and GJRAA. The Alliance will reimburse the GJRAA for expenses 
paid under this agreement up to $60,000. 

REVIEWED BY:  Executive Director and Legal Counsel, Dan Reimer 

FISCAL IMPACT: Maximum Contract Value of $60,000 to be funded by the Alliance - net impact to 
GJRAA is $0 

ATTACHMENTS: CMT Proposal and Professional Services Agreement  

STAFF CONTACT: Angela Padalecki 
apadalecki@gjairport.com  
(970) 248-8588 

 

mailto:apadalecki@gjairport.com












12/3/2021 

C. The CONSULTANT agrees to include the insurance requirements set forth in this Agreement in all subcontracts. 
The CLIENT shall hold the CONSULTANT responsible in the event any subcontractor fails to have insurance 
meeting the requirements set forth in this Agreement. The CLIENT reserves the right to approve variations in the 
insurance requirements applicable to subcontractors upon joint written request of subcontractor and the 
CONSULTANT if, in the s opinion, such variations do not substantially affect the s interests. 

10. Liability 
The CONSULTANT hereby covenants and agrees to indemnify, save, and hold harmless the CLIENT, its officers, employees, 
and agents from any and all liability, loss, costs, charges, obligations, expenses, reasonable , 
judgments, damages, claims, and demands of any kind whatsoever arising from or out of any negligent act or omission of the 
CONSULTANT, its officers, employees, or agents in the performance or nonperformance of its obligations under this 
Agreement.  

11. Governing Law 
This Agreement shall be deemed to have been made in, and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Colorado. Any lawsuit related to or arising out of disputes under this Agreement shall be commenced and tried in Mesa County, 
Colorado. Prior to, and as a condition of seeking judicial relief, the CONSULTANT shall submit a written petition to the Airport 
Executive Director identifying the specific dispute and the CONSULTANT  
thereafter make a timely finding and proposed resolution of the dispute. 

12. Subordination 
This Agreement shall be subordinate to the provisions of any existing or future agreements between the CLIENT and the United 
States, relative to the development or improvement of the Airport, the execution of which has been or may be required as a 
condition precedent to the expenditure of federal funds for the development of the Airport. This Agreement further shall be 
subordinate to the terms and conditions of the Authority Bond Resolution and, in the event of a conflict between this Agreement 
and the Bond Resolution, the Bond Resolution shall control. 

13. Governmental Immunity Act 
No term or condition of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted as a waiver, express or implied, of any of the 
immunities, rights, benefits, protections, or other provisions of the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, C.R.S. § 24-10-101 et 
seq. 

14. Colorado Open Records Act 
The CONSULTANT acknowledges that the CLIENT is subject to the provisions of the Colorado Open Records Act, Colorado 
Revised Statutes § 24-72-201 et seq., and the CONSULTANT agrees that it will fully cooperate with the CLIENT in the event of 
a request or lawsuit arising under such act for the disclosure of any materials or information which the CONSULTANT asserts is 
confidential and exempt from disclosure.  Any other provision of this Agreement notwithstanding, including exhibits, 
attachments, and other documents incorporated into this Agreement by reference, all materials, records, and information 
provided by  the CONSULTANT to the CLIENT shall be considered confidential by the CLIENT only to the extent provided in 
the Colorado Open Records Act, and  the CONSULTANT agrees that any disclosure of information by  the CLIENT consistent 
with the provisions of the Colorado Open Records Act shall result in no liability of  the CLIENT. To the extent not prohibited by 
federal law, this Agreement is subject to public release through the Colorado Open Records Act. 

15.       Civil Rights Non-Discrimination 

CONSULTANT agrees to comply with pertinent statutes, Executive Orders and such rules as are promulgated to ensure that no 
person shall, on the grounds of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, or disability be excluded from participating in any 
activity conducted with or benefiting from Federal assistance.  If CONSULTANT transfers its obligations under this Agreement to 
another, the transferee is obligated in the same manner as CONSULTANT. This provision obligates CONSULTANT during the 
term of this Agreement. This provision is in addition to that required by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 

During the performance of this Agreement, CONSULTANT for itself, its assignees, and successors in interest, agrees to comply 
with the following non-discrimination statutes and authorities:  Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 USC § 2000d et seq., 
78 stat. 252); 49 CFR part 21 (Non-discrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the Department of Transportation
Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964); the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies 
Act of 1970, (42 USC § 4601); Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC § 794 et seq.), as amended, and 49 CFR 
part 27; the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 USC § 6101 et seq.); the Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 
1982 (49 USC § 47123), as amended; the Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987 (PL 100-209); Titles II and III of the Americans 
with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 USC §§ 12131  12189) as implemented by U.S. Department of Transportation regulations at 
49 CFR parts 37 and 38; Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and 
Low-Income Populations; Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency; 
and Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended.. 

16.       Authority 
Each person signing this Agreement, and any addendums or attachments hereto, represents and warrants that said person is 
fully authorized to enter and execute this Agreement and to bind the Party it represents to the terms and conditions hereof. 

 



12/3/2021 

CRAWFORD, MURPHY & TILLY, INC.
STANDARD SCHEDULE OF HOURLY CHARGES

JANUARY 1, 2021 
 

Classification Regular Rate 

Principal 
Principal Air Service Development 

$    230 

Project Engineer II 
Project Architect II 
Project Manager II 

Senior Consultant Air Service Development 

$    220 

Project Engineer I 
Project Architect I 
Project Manager I 

Project Structural Engineer I 

$    190 

Sr. Structural Engineer II $    175 

Sr. Technician II $    160 

Aerial Mapping Specialist  $    155 

Sr. Engineer I 
Sr. Architect I 

Sr. Structural Engineer I 
Land Surveyor 

$    150 

Technical Manager II 
Environmental Scientist III 

$    140 

Sr. Technician I $    135 

Sr. Planner I 
GIS Specialist 

Engineer I 
Architect I 

Structural Engineer I 

$    130 

Environmental Scientist II 
Technician II 

$    115 

Planner I 
Technical Manager I 

Environmental Scientist I 
Technician I 

Project Administrative Assistant 

$      95 

Administrative/Accounting Assistant $      60 

If the completion of services on the project assignment requires work to be performed on an overtime 
basis, labor charges above are subject to a 15% premium.  These rates are subject to change upon 
reasonable and proper notice.  In any event this schedule will be superseded by a new schedule effective 
January 1, 2022. 

Out of pocket direct costs will be added at actual cost for blueprints, supplies, transportation and 
subsistence and other miscellaneous job-related expenses directly attributable to the performance of 
services.  A usage charge may be made when specialized equipment is used directly on the project. 

Subconsultant services furnished to CMT by another company will be invoiced at actual cost, plus ten 
percent. 



12/3/2021 

CRAWFORD, MURPHY & TILLY, INC.
STANDARD SCHEDULE OF HOURLY CHARGES

JANUARY 1, 2022 
 

Classification Regular Rate 

Principal 
Principal Air Service Development 

$    245 

Project Engineer II 
Project Architect II 
Project Manager II 

Senior Consultant Air Service Development 

$    235 

Project Engineer I 
Project Architect I 
Project Manager I 

Project Structural Engineer I 

$    200 

Sr. Structural Engineer II $    185 

Sr. Technician II $    170 

Aerial Mapping Specialist  $    165 

Sr. Engineer I 
Sr. Architect I 

Sr. Structural Engineer I 
Land Surveyor 

$    160 

Technical Manager II 
Environmental Scientist III 

$    150 

Sr. Technician I $    145 

Sr. Planner I 
GIS Specialist 

Engineer I 
Architect I 

Structural Engineer I 

$    140 

Environmental Scientist II 
Technician II 

$    125 

Planner I 
Technical Manager I 

Environmental Scientist I 
Technician I 

Project Administrative Assistant 

$      100 

Administrative/Accounting Assistant $      65 

If the completion of services on the project assignment requires work to be performed on an overtime 
basis, labor charges above are subject to a 15% premium.  These rates are subject to change upon 
reasonable and proper notice.  In any event this schedule will be superseded by a new schedule effective 
January 1, 2023. 

Out of pocket direct costs will be added at actual cost for blueprints, supplies, transportation and 
subsistence and other miscellaneous job-related expenses directly attributable to the performance of 
services.  A usage charge may be made when specialized equipment is used directly on the project. 

Subconsultant services furnished to CMT by another company will be invoiced at actual cost, plus ten 
percent. 



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Transportation Security Administration (TSA) Office Lease Space 
Amendment 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 
RECOMMENDATION: Authorize the Executive Director to negotiate an amendment to the 

expired TSA office lease consistent with the terms of the expired lease or 
the terms of the new proposed lease approved in October 2021 and 
authorize the Executive Director to sign the extension amendment. 

SUMMARY: In October 2021 the board approved a new office space lease with the 
General Services Administration (GSA) for the office space currently 
occupied by the Transportation Security Administration (TSA). Subsequent 
to the Board approval and before the new lease was signed, GSA 
announced that leases must include provisions to implement Executive 
Order 14042, Ensuring Adequate COVID Safety Protocols for Federal 
Contractors.   

Initially, the Authority understood that contracts under the Simplified 
Acquisition Threshold of $250,000 were exempt from this requirement, 
however, GSA legal counsel clarified that the clause is required for all new 
leases regardless of amount, but not for lease amendments. The 
Authority does not wish to implement the Executive Order at this time, 
and is proposing to amend the expired TSA lease rather than move 
forward with a new lease that includes the COVID Safety Protocols for 
Federal Contractors.  

Staff request authorization for the Executive Director to negotiate and 
sign a lease amendment to extend the expired TSA lease at either the 
expired terms or consistent with the terms negotiated with the new lease.  

The annual difference in revenue between the expired terms and new 
terms is less than $1,000. Authorizing this amendment will provide 
current lease terms between the Authority and the GSA.  

REVIEWED BY:  Executive Director and Legal Counsel 
FISCAL IMPACT: Projected GSA Annual Lease Revenue for 2022 is approximately $181,000  
ATTACHMENTS: None 

STAFF  
CONTACT: 

Sarah Menge 
Email: SMenge@gjairport.com 
Office: (970) 248-8581 

 

mailto:SMenge@gjairport.com


Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Resolution No. 2021-008 to Approve Rates and Charges 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECCOMENDATION: Adopt Resolution No. 2021-008: Rates and Charges effective January 1, 2022.   

SUMMARY: The annual rates and charges resolution enacts rates for the coming year and 
the approved 2022 budget reflects the proposed rates.  
 
The primary change from 2021 is a 5% reduction in the airline rates and 
charges (landing fees and space rent). This balances our goals of retaining and 
expanding air service and financial sustainability, given the substantial federal 
relief grant GJRAA was awarded in 2021 and 2020.  
 
Additional changes include clerical updates and the addition of a credit card 
fee to cover the cost of processing credit card payments.  
 
We anticipate that the airline rates and charges methodology for future years 
will be revised in 2022 as part of the negotiation of a new airline use and 
lease agreement. 

REVIEWED BY:  Executive Director, and Legal Counsel 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

These changes are intended to match the budgeted revenues presented with 
the 2022 budget 
 

ATTACHMENTS: Board Resolution 2021-008: Rates and Charges 
 

STAFF CONTACT:                 Sarah Menge 
970-248-8581 
smenge@gjairport.com  
 

 

mailto:smenge@gjairport.com






















Page 11 of 13 
Effective January 1, 2022 

VI. OTHER  
 
A. Security Badge Fees 

 
SIDA and Sterile Area Badges:   

Includes Criminal History Records Check (“CHRC”) fingerprinting, Security Threat 
Assessment (“STA”), photo, paperwork, required training class and identification media 
badge. 
 
Initial Issue 

With fingerprint processing ....................................................$85.00 
Without fingerprint processing ...............................................$35.00 

 
Renewal 

With fingerprint processing ....................................................$55.00 
Without fingerprint processing ...............................................$25.00 

 
  
AOA Badges: 

Includes STA, photo, paperwork, required training class and identification media badge. 
 
Initial Issue ..........................................................................................$35.00 
Renewal...............................................................................................$25.00 

 
Change from AOA Badge to SIDA Badge 
 With fingerprint processing ................................................................$50.00 
 Without fingerprint processing ...........................................................$25.00 
 
Lost or Not Returned Badges 

Charge to employer for ID not returned ...........................................$100.00 
Lost badge - 1st replacement .............................................................. $35.00 
Lost badge - 2nd replacement ............................................................. $70.00 
Lost badge - 3rd replacement ............................................................ $210.00 
Airport will review costs for card issued after 3rd replacement. 

 
Keys 

Initial Issue ..........................................................................................$10.00 
Replacement- If broken.......................................................................$10.00 
Replacement- If lost or stolen $100.00 plus the actual cost for re-keying the locks and 
producing additional key(s). 

  



Page 12 of 13 
Effective January 1, 2022 

 
B. Airport Parking Violations:  
 

 Fine paid 
within 14 days 

Fine paid after 
14 days 

Parking Violation $25 $40 
Handicap Parking Violation $75 $125 

 
Payments of parking violations are made directly to Clancy Systems International, Inc.  
Payment of tickets can be made through mail by check, or online by check or credit card 
(Visa or MasterCard).   
 
 
C. Terminal Parking: 

 
30 minutes or less FREE 
More than 30 minutes $1.00 each additional 30 minutes 
24 hour maximum $10.00 

 
 

D. Internet and Phone Service: 
 

Service Provided Monthly Fee 
Internet $75 
Telephone $30 

 
E. Billable Staff Time: 

 
Staff Level Hourly Rate 
Level 1 $70 
Level 2 $50 
Level 3 $30 

 
 

F. Monthly Aircraft Tie-Down Fee on Designated GJRAA Maintained Ramp:  
Aircraft less than 12,500 pounds - $60 per month 

 
 

G. Colorado Open Record Request (CORA) 
CORA items are subject to a rate of $25 per hour (15-minute increments) after the first 
hour of staff time and $0.25 per page of copied material. Payment is required prior to 
release of CORA items. 
 

H. Credit Card Payment Convenience Fee 
 Payments made to the Authority via credit card will be assessed a 4% convenience fee. 
  



Page 13 of 13 
Effective January 1, 2022 

 
The Rates & Charges is hereby approved and adopted, after public notice and opportunity for 
comments, by the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority and made a part of the public 
records of the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority. 
 
ADOPTED this _____ day of December, 2021. 
 
       
Board Members Voting Aye:    Those Voting Nay: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Tom Benton, Chairman 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Cameron Reece, Clerk 
 
 

 
 

 

 


	December 7, 2021 Board Meeting Agenda
	1. November 16, 2021- Regular Board Meeting Minutes.pdf
	12 December 7, 2021 Board Packet - 1.pdf
	2. AIS - Air Service Incentive Program Revisions
	2.1 GJT Air Service Incentive Program Proposed Revisions
	3. AIS - CMT_GJRAA Agreement Amendment
	3.1 GJT Leakage Task #1 Proposal 12.3.21
	3.2 2021 Standard Agreement for Professional Services - GJT Catchment Study 12.3.21 CMT USE
	4.0 AIS - TSA Office Lease Amendment
	5. AIS - Resolution - Rates and Charges
	5.1 Resolution 2021-008 Rates and Charges
	Declaration of Authority/Applicability of Rates & Charges
	Payment of Rates and Charges






